brought to you by 🗓 CORE

provided by



Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/semcdb

Review

Notch receptor-ligand binding and activation: Insights from molecular studies

Chandramouli R. Chillakuri^a, Devon Sheppard^b, Susan M. Lea^b, Penny A. Handford^{a,*}

^a Department of Biochemistry, University of Oxford, South Parks Road, Oxford, UK^b Sir William Dunn School of Pathology, University of Oxford, South Parks Road, Oxford, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Available online 4 February 2012

Keywords: Notch signalling cis/trans Notch Jagged Epidermal growth factor-like

ABSTRACT

The Notch receptor is part of a core signalling pathway which is highly conserved in all metazoan species. It is required for various cell fate decisions at multiple stages of development and in the adult organism, with dysregulation of the pathway associated with genetic and acquired diseases including cancer. Although cellular and *in vivo* studies have provided considerable insight into the downstream consequences of Notch signalling, relatively little is known about the molecular basis of the receptor/ligand interaction and initial stages of activation. Recent advances in structure determination of the extracellular regions of human Notch-1 and one of its ligands Jagged-1 have given new insights into docking events occurring at the cell surface which may facilitate the development of new highly specific therapies. We review the structural data available for receptor and ligands and identify the challenges ahead.

© 2012 Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY license.

Contents

1.	Introduction.	421	
2.	Domain architecture of Notch receptor		
	2.1. Structure of the ligand binding domain (LBD) of human Notch1	422	
	2.2. Structure of negative regulatory region (NRR) of Notch1	424	
	2.3. Structure of Notch intracellular domain (NICD)	424	
	2.4. Structure of Notch receptor: a rod or a rope	424	
3.	Domain architecture of canonical ligands	425	
4.	Notch-ligand interactions		
	4.1. Insights into Notch–ligand interaction: affinity vs. avidity	426	
5.	Notch-ligand therapeutics: where lies the specificity?	427	
6.	Conclusions and perspective	427	
	Acknowledgement	427	
	References	428	

1. Introduction

The Notch receptor is a single pass trans-membrane protein which, during maturation, may be cleaved by a furin-like convertase (at S1) in the trans-Golgi to generate a noncovalently associated heterodimer at the cell surface. Canonical

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 1865613256.

E-mail address: penny.handford@bioch.ox.ac.uk (P.A. Handford).

Notch signalling is initiated when a cell-surface expressed Delta/Serrate/LAG-2 (DSL) ligand binds to the Notch receptor expressed on an opposing cell surface (Fig. 1). Endocytosis of the Notch-ligand complex by the ligand-expressing cell leads to ADAM metalloprotease mediated cleavage at S2 and removes the extracellular fragment of the heterodimer. The membrane tethered fragment is then cleaved by γ -secretase complex at S3 to release the intracellular fragment of Notch (NICD). This translocates to the nucleus and assembles into a transcriptional activation complex which includes a DNA binding protein of the CSL family and its coactivator Mastermind-like. This new assembly relieves repression of Notch target genes such as *Hes-1*. In addition to trans-activating Notch-ligand complexes, the receptor can also form cis-inhibitory

Abbreviations: EGF, epidermal growth factor; CSL, CBF1/suppressor of hair-less/Lag1.

^{1084-9521 © 2012} Elsevier Ltd. Open access under CC BY license. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2012.01.009



Fig. 1. Canonical Notch signalling. The Notch receptor undergoes post-translational modifications, including glycosylation and proteolysis (S1) before being targeted to the cell membrane. A ligand from the neighbouring cell binds to the receptor leading to activation. Ubiquitination of ligand and initiation of endocytosis of ligand–receptor complex leads to a second proteolytic cleavage by ADAM metalloprotease (S2) removing the extracellular region. The membrane tethered receptor fragment is cleaved by the γ-secretase complex (S3) to release the Notch intracellular domain (NICD) which translocates into the nucleus. NICD, together with CSL and co-activator Master mind-like (MAML), displaces the co-repressor and forms a transcription activation complex on promoters of target genes like *Hes-1*, *Hes-5* which contain CSL binding sites. Some recent reports show that ligand present on the same cell surface can also bind to each other leading to cis-inhibition. The molecular basis of the cis-inhibitory complex is unknown, but implicates similar regions of receptor and ligand to those involved in trans-activation.

complexes (Fig. 1) when Notch and ligand are expressed on the same cell surface. Cis-inhibition serves to limit the zone of Notch activity and is particularly important in developmental programs in *Drosophila* such as the wing disc and eye.

2. Domain architecture of Notch receptor

The extracellular domain (ECD) of the Notch receptor varies from species to species; Drosophila and mammalian receptors are much larger than their counterparts from Caenorabditis elegans, although each invariably maintains the same molecular architecture (see review [1]). Drosophila has a single Notch receptor, C. elegans has two (LIN-12, GLP-1) while mammals have four paralogues. At the N-terminal end, Drosophila Notch and human Notch-1 (Fig. 2) both contain 36 EGF-like domains, a subset of which contain calcium-binding sites (cbEGF). Following the EGF-like domains are three Lin-12-Notch (LNR) repeats, and a hydrophobic region which has been shown to mediate heterodimerisation (HD). Together, the LNR repeats and the heterodimerisation domain form the negative regulatory region (NRR), adjacent to the cell membrane. This region prevents ligand-independent activation of the Notch receptor by concealing and protecting the S2 cleavage site from metalloproteases [2]. The S3 cleavage site lies within the transmembrane segment and is cleaved by the γ -secretase complex to liberate NICD. NICD contains a RAM domain, seven ankyrin repeats (ANK), a transcription activation domain (TAD) and PEST domain. Both the RAM domain and ANK repeats have been identified as regions involved in the interaction with CSL transcription

factors [3]. The TAD region is found in Notch-1 and -2 but not in -3 and -4 in mammals. The C-terminal PEST domain is involved in NICD degradation by proteolysis. Mutations which lead to deletions of this region are associated with T-cell leukaemias, emphasising the important functional role of regulated NICD degradation [4].

2.1. Structure of the ligand binding domain (LBD) of human Notch1

Deletion analyses, in combination with cell aggregation assays, identified EGF domains 11 and 12 of the Drosophila Notch receptor as the major ligand-binding site. This region was found to be sufficient to bind in a calcium-dependent manner to Notch ligands, but it did not show full functionality in vivo, indicating that additional sites were involved in Notch activation and regulation [5,6]. The large size and disulphide-bonded complexity of the full length Notch receptor precluded structural studies on the intact native molecule, however analysis of other unrelated EGF domain-rich proteins such as fibrillin-1 demonstrated that a molecular dissection approach employing in vitro redox refolding could be used to determine the structure of short fragments containing two or more EGF domains [7,8]. A fragment of human Notch-1 EGF11-13, encompassing the ligand-binding region, was subsequently expressed in bacteria, refolded in vitro and shown to be capable of binding to ligand in a Ca²⁺ dependant manner in FACS assay when biotinylated and anchored to Streptavidin beads and also in Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) studies [9,10]. A study of calcium-binding mutations introduced into a slightly larger fragment hNotch-1



Fig. 2. Architecture of Notch1 receptor. Human Notch-1 is represented with major domains annotated. In the EGF repeat region the Ca²⁺ binding EGF domain is green and non-Ca²⁺ binding EGF domain is blue. (a) Crystal structure of EGF11–13 repeats (PDB ID: 2VJ2) which encompass the ligand binding site and show a near linear domain arrangement. (b) Tandem EGF repeats are rigidified by bound Ca²⁺ (red sphere) and interdomain packing of aromatic residues, Tyrosine (purple spheres) from EGF11 with hydrophobic Isoleucine (blue spheres) and Glycine (green spheres) from EGF12. (c) Crystal structure of the negative regulatory region (NRR) (PDB ID: 3108) comprising three LNR repeats and the heterodimerisation domain shows that the S2 cleavage site is buried deep inside the globular NRR. (d) Crystal structure of ankyrin repeat region ANK (PDB ID: 2F8Y). (e) Transcription activation complex (PDB ID: 2F8X) made up of CSL (green), NICD (blue) and Master mind-like (purple) binding to the CSL binding site (double stranded DNA) on *Hes-1* promoter. RAM peptide region involved in CSL protein binding, trans-activating domain (TAD) and degradation signal PEST are also illustrated in the figure.

EGF11-14 showed that the calcium-dependent structure of EGF12 but not EGF11 or EGF13 was key to hDll-1 binding, suggesting that the ligand-binding site resides in Notch-1 EGF12 and/or the EGF11-12 junction. The solution structure of hNotch-1 EGF11-13 showed that EGF11 and 12 packed against each other, with Ca²⁺ dependent pairwise domain interactions stabilised by a conserved aromatic residue (Y/F/W) in the N-terminal domain packing against a hydrophobic residue (I/L/V/P) and a conserved glycine in the Cterminal domain. In contrast, there was a poorly defined orientation for EGF13. The tilt angle of ~20° for hNotch-1 EGF11-12 was similar to that seen for calcium binding (cb)EGF domain pairs of fibrillin-1, but the twist angle of 120° was very different and at least in part due to the two amino acid linker between EGF11 and 12, rather than the one amino acid linker seen in fibrillin-1. This NMR structure allowed modelling of other contiguous regions of Notch cbEGF domains as rod-shaped structures, since linker length and residues important for pairwise interactions are highly conserved.

A high resolution crystal structure was later solved for an EGF11–13 fragment (Fig. 2a), which showed a calcium-stabilised rod-shape for all three domains with dimensions $100 \times 24 \times 20$ Å [11]. As seen in the NMR structure the interdomain packing interactions were key to maintaining the rigidity of the domain pair (Fig. 2b). The stability of EGF13 in the crystal structure was attributed to the addition of a recombinant C-terminal tag which was absent in the earlier construct used for NMR. The overall elongated shape of this region provides an extensive protein–protein

interaction surface which is likely to be of functional significance. Although EGF12 appears to be the core ligand binding domain, it is possible that additional contacts from neighbouring domains may contribute to the interaction. Further work on defining the ligand binding site using site-directed mutagenesis, chemical shift mapping and other interaction studies will help to clarify the binding interface.

O-glycosylation of the extracellular domain is known to play a key role in regulating Notch signalling. Multiple sites occur across the receptor, including one O-fucose site and one O-glucose site in EGF12. Over-expression of Ofut1 (O-fucosyl transferase) in Notch-expressing cells increases Notch-Serrate binding, whereas it decreases the Notch-Delta binding. These results are in contrast to the effects of extending the fucose moiety with N-acetylglucosamine (GlnNAc) by the glycosyltransferase Fringe. This additional modification decreases Notch-Serrate binding and increases Notch-Delta binding [12]. Mutation of the O-fucose site in EGF12 (Ser to Ala) of Drosophila Notch eliminates the inhibitory effect of Serrate on Notch receptor because fucosylation and subsequent Fringe modifications do not occur. This mutant was found to be functional during embryonic neurogenesis but not at the dorsoventral boundary. An O-fucose site substitution in EGF12 (Thr to Ala) of mouse Notch1 receptor (Notch1^{12f}) demonstrated that homozygous (Notch1^{12f/12f}) mice were viable and fertile, though they showed decreased Notch signalling leading to defective Tcell development [13,14]. These data show that post-translational

modifications of Notch can modulate Notch ligand interactions, but the relative importance of each site glycosylated and the molecular basis for this regulation is unknown. Recently, controlled in vitro glycosylation of synthetic mouse Notch-1 EGF12 was performed and the structure solved by NMR [15]. Only minor structural changes in the domain were observed with the addition of a single fucose residue but addition of a GlcNac residue onto fucose resulted in a significant conformational change in the beta-hairpin of EGF12. Although interesting, the functional significance of these data is not clear. The NMR experiments were performed in the absence of Ca²⁺ on an isolated domain. Since N-terminal linkage of EGF11 and Ca²⁺ are both required for EGF12 to adopt its native ligand-binding structure, further comparative experiments in the presence of Ca²⁺ are required to confirm the structural effects of O-linked modifications to EGF12, and their impact on ligand binding.

2.2. Structure of negative regulatory region (NRR) of Notch1

The membrane-proximal NRR, which contains the LNR repeats, the dimerisation domain and both S1 and S2 cleavage sites, is well characterised at an atomic level (Fig. 2c) compared to the EGF repeat region, and has been reviewed in detail recently [16]. Most Notch receptors are cleaved at the S1 site to form a heterodimer molecule, but the requirement of such processing for activity is debatable. A recent report of a S1-cleaved human Notch-1 NRR region shows that there is little change in the overall structure whether or not the S1 loop is present [17]. Several disease-causing mutations associated with T-cell leukaemias have been mapped to the NRR region and have been found to lead to a gain of Notch signalling suggesting that the NRR acts as an activation switch in the receptor. The first NMR structure of the LNR module showed that it has little secondary structure, but is stabilised by three disulphide bonds and a single calcium ion [18]. In an early study calcium was shown to play a key role in stabilising the inactive state of the NRR since EDTA treatment resulted in receptor activation and NICD production in a ligand independent manner [19]. A crystal structure of the NRR region of human Notch-2 showed that the S2 cleavage site is buried because of an extensive interaction surface between the LNR repeats and the heterodimerisation domain (HD), which constitutes two subunits tightly entwined in an α - β -sandwich. As a consequence of the cap-like covering of LNR over the HD region, the protein is locked in an autoinhibited mode. This finding immediately poses the question of how the autoinhibition is relieved and the S2 cleavage site exposed? The current favoured mechanism is that ligand binding and subsequent initiation of ligand endocytosis generates a mechanical pull on the NRR region which leads to LNR repeats being pulled away unmasking the S2 cleavage site (Fig. 1). This is consistent with experimental data which show a requirement for ligand endocytosis in Notch signalling (see review by Weinmaster in this series). However an alternative allosteric mechanism cannot be excluded whereby ligand binding causes a conformational change in the NRR leading to S2 exposure. Irrespective of which of these models is correct, mutations found in T-ALL patients appear to disrupt the hydrophobic core of the HD region leading to exposure of the S2 cleavage site, even in the absence of ligand [20].

2.3. Structure of Notch intracellular domain (NICD)

The NICD, encompassing the RAM, ANK and PEST domains is by far the best characterised region in the Notch receptor at the atomic level (for a detailed review see [21]) The ANK domain (Fig. 2d), which comprises seven ANK repeats, was the first region to be studied, probably because of the known classical ANK fold comprising a pair of antiparallel helices, and its observed role in protein–protein



Fig. 3. Cell surface organisation of Notch receptor. Much of the extracellular region of the Notch receptor is made up of EGF repeats. The crystal structure of the EGF11–13 region showed that these domains are arranged into a near linear structure rigidified by Ca²⁺. Based on this observation, a near linear model is proposed that extends away from the membrane. There is evidence that the cbEGF-EGF and EGF-EGF tandem domains can be flexible or pack in a non-linear orientation and may adopt a bent rather than a linear structure. Since the N-terminal region and C-terminal region of the extracellular domain (ECD) contains several non Ca²⁺ binding EGF repeats, it is possible that the Notch receptor attains a much more compact structure. It should be noted that the compact structure represented here is showing possible regions of flexibility and is not a structure prediction. If there are any interactions between different regions of the ECD a much more compact structure may exist.

interactions [22]. Subsequent biochemical and structural analysis of the Notch transcription complex partners has revealed that the interaction between NICD and CSL is dependant predominantly on the RAM domain and less on the ANK domain [23]. In contrast, the binding of the co-activator MAML1 is independent of RAM domain, but instead requires the ANK domain. It was found that neither NICD nor CSL can bind MAML1 alone, but bind cooperatively to it in a complex (Fig. 2e) [24]. A recent report shows that NICD, CSL and MAML1 cooperatively form a dimer complex on a paired recognition site of a promoter *Hes5* [25]. This finding demonstrates how promoter organisation controls responsiveness to Notch signalling.

2.4. Structure of Notch receptor: a rod or a rope

Despite advances in structure determination of limited fragments of Notch comprising the key domain types, the quaternary structure of the ectodomain remains unsolved. Since much of the extracellular region of Notch comprises calcium binding EGF-like domains, it is reasonable to base working models of receptor shape on structural features of this domain type. Most of the receptor is predicted to have a rigid near-linear architecture (Fig. 3), but potential sites of flexibility may occur at the interfaces of cbEGF/EGF and EGF/EGF domains which appear much less conserved [9,26]. An alternative bent structure has been proposed (Fig. 3) based on non-linear pairwise domain interactions, as shown for the EGF pair from a merozoite protein from *Plasmodium falciparum*, which predicts a shorter, more compact, receptor [27].



Fig. 4. Architecture of Jagged1. Human Jagged-1 is represented in the figure. Similar to the Notch receptor, much of the extracellular region comprises EGF repeats. No structural predictions exist for the N-terminus of Notch ligand (MNNL) region. CRD represents the cysteine-rich region and the PDZL domain is present on the C-terminal region. (a) Crystal structure of human Jagged1 DSL EGF3 region (PDB ID: 2VJ3) showed a near linear arrangement of these domains. Disulphide bonds are shown as yellow sticks (b) The DSL domain is found to have a unique fold and forms the main receptor binding site. Sequence alignments and subsequent mutational studies showed that a subset of residues localised on one face of Jagged1 are crucial for the interactions with the receptor. Side chains of residues F¹⁹⁹, R²⁰¹, R²⁰³, D²⁰⁵, F²⁰⁷ are represented as red sticks.

This model is intriguing in a way that it provides a potential explanation for genetic and biochemical data which implicate domains distant from EGF11-12, such as the Abruptex region, in modulating ligand dependent activation. The quaternary structure of the complete extracellular domain (ECD) of human Notch1 receptor and Drosophila Notch receptor has recently been investigated by single particle electron microscopy and antibody labelling [28]. These are necessarily challenging experiments as the inherent resolution of the technique is poorly matched to the small size of the domains involved. Baculovirus-expressed proteins were directly captured on grids and dimensions of ~25 nm estimated for the long axis of each protein. Overall, these dimensions support a more compact rather than extended architecture for the receptor; measurements >100 nm would have been expected for an extended rod-shaped molecule since each EGF domain is ~3 nm long. Furthermore, the density maps suggested that the ECD existed as a homodimer and could adopt at least three conformations which the authors proposed may be of functional significance to the cisand trans-regulatory interactions mediated by Notch. However it should be noted that due to low yields of protein, both Drosophila and human proteins were directly captured on grids rather than undergoing extensive purification. This could result in inclusion of non-native receptor in the data set. Ideally future single-particle studies should include comparative analyses of purified and characterised proteins, in the presence and absence of Ca²⁺, since Ca²⁺ is known to have substantial effects on the conformation of tandem cbEGF domains. These could be complimented with antibody labelling studies using a panel of monoclonal antibodies specific for individual Notch EGF domains to provide distance restraints

in conjunction with structure and dynamics studies of fragments containing cbEGF/EGF linkages.

3. Domain architecture of canonical ligands

The Notch receptor is activated by Delta/Delta-like and Serrate/Jagged ligand families (Fig. 4), both of which contain a Notch-binding site within a DSL domain. Drosophila contains one member of each family (Delta and Serrate), while mammalian ligands are more complex with three members of the Delta family (Dll-1, -3 and -4) and two members of the Jagged family (J-1 and -2). Preceding the DSL domain is a disulphide-bond stabilised module at the N-terminus of Notch ligands (MNNL) which is of unknown structure, but is functionally important since many missense mutations affecting this region of hI-1 give rise to Alagille syndrome. Following the DSL domain is a series of EGF-like domains which range in number from 16 (Jagged family), 5-9 (Delta family) and one in DSL-1 (secreted ligand) of C. elegans [29]. The first two EGF-like domains in Serrate/Jagged1/2 and Delta/Delta-like-1 are unusual in that, although they contain 6 conserved cysteine residues, they have very short loop sequences and resemble a motif seen in the OSM-11 protein in C. elegans known as the Delta/OSM-11 domain (DOS domain) [30]. The remaining EGF domains are more orthodox in sequence. A juxtamembrane cysteine rich domain (CRD) distinguishes Serrate/Jagged from the Delta family. On the cytosolic side, a PDZL domain was identified in some vertebrate ligands (Jagged-1, Delta-like-1, 4). This domain facilitates the interaction with proteins at the adherens junction in promoting cell-cell adhesion and inhibiting cell motility [31].

The crystal structure of a human Jagged-1 fragment containing the DSL domain and the first three EGF-like domains have given the first high resolution insights into ligand domain organisation. The four domains form an elongated structure (Fig. 4a), similar to the ligand binding EGF11-13 region of Notch, with dimensions of $120 \times 20 \times 20$ Å [11]. The DSL domain revealed a unique fold with no known structural homologues, but showed similarity to an EGF domain, since it contained a double-stranded antiparallel β-sheet. The disulphide bond pattern in the DSL domain was found to occur between consecutive cysteine residues instead of the C1-C3, C2-C4, C5-C6 arrangement usually associated with the EGF fold. However, the loop between C1 and C2 superimposed on the loop from C5 and C6 suggesting that the DSL domain might have evolved from a truncation of tandem EGF domains. Sequence alignment of DSL domains from both ligand families identified a group of highly conserved residues (human Jagged1 F¹⁹⁹, R²⁰¹, R²⁰³, F²⁰⁷) which mapped to one face of the DSL domain forming a putative Notch binding site (Fig. 4b). Functional analysis of site-directed DSL mutants confirmed the importance of these residues in both cisand trans-regulatory interactions with Notch.

Analysis of the three EGF domains revealed interesting differences. EGF3 showed a classical EGF fold whereas EGF1 and 2 showed a trimmed EGF fold with no canonical secondary structure. These data confirm the observation of Lissemore and Starmer based on sequence alignments that EGF1 and 2 are different from EGF3 [32]. A solution NMR structure of a 44 aminoacid synthetic peptide corresponding to exon6 of human Jagged-1 consisting of the C-terminal region of EGF1 and EGF2 showed that there were strong hydrophobic interactions between Y²⁵⁵, W²⁵⁷ of EGF1 and I²⁶⁶, P²⁷⁹, W²⁸⁰ of EGF2 indicating the rigidity of these tandem repeats even in solution [33]. Non-canonical EGF domains have been observed in the Delta and OSM-11 (DOS) motif identified in the OSM-11 and related proteins of C. elegans, which may act as Notch coligands. The DOS motif comprises of a non-canonical EGF domain and additional sequences including two conserved cysteine residues and a tryptophan residue which may suggest it evolved from two non-canonical EGF domains. However it remains to be confirmed whether it represents a completely novel domain structure with a non-EGF disulphide pairing (as observed in the DSL domain) or comprises a non-canonical EGF domain with an additional disulphide bond.

Further, unresolved questions about ligand structure include the role of the MNNL domain. This region is not conserved between the two ligand families but the number of missense mutations associated with Alagille syndrome which affect amino acids within this domain from Jagged-1 indicate an important functional role which has yet to be elucidated. Similar to the Notch receptor, the cell surface organisation of the ligands remain unsolved. Do the ligands extend away from the cell surface, or adopt a more compact, membrane proximal, architecture? What is the molecular basis for the differential response of each ligand family to O-fucosylation of Notch.

4. Notch-ligand interactions

There are two different modes of canonical Notch–ligand interactions. Ligand expressed on the surface of a signal-sending cell can bind in trans to a receptor on the receiving cell initiating Notch signalling [34]. Alternatively ligand can be expressed on the same cell surface as the receptor resulting in a cis inhibitory interaction that limits Notch activity [35]. Although these two modes of interaction are well established from a variety of experimental data, the molecular basis for activating and inhibitory complexes is poorly understood. It has been unambiguously established that Notch EGF11–12 and the DSL domain residues interact to promote Notch trans-activation. In contrast, the molecular requirements for cis interactions are less clear cut, although the loss of both cisinhibition and trans-activation, observed when a panel of Serrate DSL mutants were over expressed in the imaginal disc, suggest that the DSL region is involved in both [11]. Early reports proposed that the Abruptex region of Notch receptor (EGF24-29) might be involved in cis interactions [36]. A recent study showed that the Notch EGF10–12 region is required for cis-inhibition [37]. Although similar regions of receptor and ligand are implicated, it is impossible to predict whether or not a single molecular complex involving DSL and EGF11-12 underlies both types of interaction. NMR analysis and in silico docking of isolated receptor ligand fragments have suggested that two distinct complexes involving the same regions could form, however in the absence of more native-like flanking sequences, these data should be regarded as preliminary. More convincing data may come from the expression of full length Notch mutants and observation of their effects in an experimental system which can distinguish cis-inhibition and trans-activation.

4.1. Insights into Notch-ligand interaction: affinity vs. avidity

Although new insights into the Notch-ligand recognition event have been gained from the application of structural biology, the establishment of a quantitative assay is required to identify the affinity of different Notch ligand complexes. This is required to fine tune the design of fragments for co-crystallisation, to determine the contribution, if any, of flanking regions and post translationalmodifications to the interaction, and to rationalise the contribution of affinity/avidity to the activation mechanism. A relatively weak $K_{\rm D}$ of 130 μ M was measured for the calcium-dependent interaction of EGF11-14 Notch1 and DSL EGF-3 of Dll-1 in an SPR study [10]. In solid phase assays, mouse soluble Dll-1 produced from eukaryotic cells showed saturable binding at nM concentrations to larger fragments of Notch 1 and Notch 3 (N-terminus to EGF15) and a soluble Jagged1 construct gave a $K_{D(app)}$ value of 0.7 nM suggesting that regions outside the EGF11-12 region may contribute to ligand binding [38,39]. However the ligand fragments were expressed as Fc fusions, so avidity effects may lie behind the very different $K_{D(app)}$ values reported, compared to the studies performed with monomeric reagents. Similar ELISA based assays of fragments of Drosophila Notch and Delta suggested that the ligandbinding region of Notch also bound to the Abruptex region and a role of Abruptex in maintaining the inactive state of the receptor was proposed [40]. Comparative analysis of Fc vs. non-Fc-fused ligand constructs would establish the effect of avidity on the measured $K_{D(app)}$, and pave the way for systematic analysis of the contribution of regions outside the recognition domains, and/or post-translational modifications to binding using ELISA and SPR solid phase assays. These data would greatly facilitate the design of receptor and ligand fragments with optimal binding affinity, which may prove suitable for co-crystallisation studies.

As described earlier the early steps leading to activation upon ligand binding are undefined. Is the receptor activated solely by mechanotransduction initiated by ligand endocytosis and/or do a series of conformational changes lead to an allosteric effect on S2 cleavage? Cell aggregation assays performed on Serrate DSL mutants demonstrated that F249A and R253A retained their ability to bind to Notch despite being defective in transactivation, suggesting that binding alone is not sufficient to initiate the signalling process [11]. These mutants would be prime candidates to test in quantitative binding assays, since native-like binding would suggest the involvement of these conserved residues in stabilising a conformation required for activation, rather than contributing to the stability of the complex. Interestingly two separate studies showed that N-terminal linkage of EGF10 reduced the ligand binding affinity of a receptor fragment encompassing EGF11–12 [10,27].

Table 1

Structures of Notch receptor and ligand fragments.

Molecule	Organism	PDB ID	Method			
Ligands						
Jagged-1, domains DSL and EGFs 1–3	Human	2VJ2	X-ray (2.5 Å)			
Jagged-1, exon 6	Human	2KB9	NMR			
Notch extracellular domains						
Notch-1 EGFs 11–13	Human	1TOZ	NMR			
Notch-1 EGFs 11–13	Human	2VJ3	X-ray (2.6 Å)			
Notch-1 EGF 12	Synthetic	2RR0	NMR			
Notch-1 EGF 12 with sugar modification	Synthetic	2RQZ	NMR			
Notch-1 EGF 12 with O-fucosylation	Synthetic	2RR2	NMR			
Notch-1 Lin12 module	Human	1PB5	NMR			
Notch-2 negative regulatory region	Human	2004	X-ray (2.0 Å)			
Notch1 negative regulatory region	Human	3ETO	X-ray (2.0 Å)			
S1 cleaved Notch1 negative regulatory region	Human	3108	X-ray (3.2 Å)			
Notch-1 NRR bound to fab of antagonist antibody	Human	3L95	X-ray (2.19 Å)			
Notch extracellular domain	Fly	Ref. [28]	EM			
Notch extracellular domain	Human	Ref. [28]	EM			
Notch intracellular domains						
Notch ankyrin domain repeats 4–7	Fly	10T8	X-ray (2.0 Å)			
Notch-1 ankyrin domain	Mouse	1YMP	X-ray (2.2 Å)			
Notch-1 ankyrin domain	Human	1YYH	X-ray (1.9 Å)			
Notch-1 ankyrin domain	Human	2F8Y	X-ray (1.55 Å)			
Notch-1 ankyrin domain mutant	Human	2HEO	X-ray (1.9 Å)			
Notch-1 ankyrin domain	Mouse	2QC9	X-ray (2.35 Å)			
Ankyrin domain	Synthetic	2ZGG	X-ray (2.0 Å)			
Notch,CSL and MAML on HES-1 promoter	Human	2F8X	X-ray (3.25 Å)			
CSL, Notch and Mastermind bound to DNA	Worm	2FO1	X-ray (3.12 Å)			
CSL(Lag-1) bound to DNA with Lin-12 RAM peptide	Worm	3BRD	X-ray (2.21 Å)			
Notch transcription complex on dual CSL sites	Human	3NBN	X-ray (3.45 Å)			

In the latter study, ligand binding could be rescued by the introduction of a calcium-binding mutation into EGF11 which uncouples the EGF10-11 interface. These data suggest that conformational changes in regions adjacent to EGF12 have the capacity to modulate ligand binding, but until these experiments are repeated using larger fragments of Notch, it is unclear if they have physiological relevance. Ligand-dependent clustering of Notch has been proposed to allow trans-regulatory complexes to withstand the mechanical pulling force generated by ligand endocytosis during the activation process suggesting that avidity effects may contribute to the mechanism of activation [41]. Atomic force microscopy on live cells showed that Notch signalling is linked to the adhesion force between cells expressing receptor and ligand [42]. The surface of S2 cells expressing Notch and Delta revealed marked differences with Notch-expressing cells displaying a topology of fibres whereas Delta expressing cells showed bumps. The authors predicted that Notch might exist as a monomer or oligomer, but proposed that Delta formed a multimer. On the basis of this it was postulated that Delta and Notch-expressing cells resemble 'Velcro'. O-fut1 downregulation by RNA interference produced a marked difference of surface topology and resulted in almost zero detachment force to Delta expressing cells. It is possible therefore that changes in glycosylation state could alter the conformation of the receptor/ligand and their ability to cluster which in turn would modulate binding and activation.

5. Notch-ligand therapeutics: where lies the specificity?

Consistent with its central role in metazoan cell-cell communication, dysregulation of Notch signalling leads to several genetic and acquired diseases. Several mutations were identified in receptors and ligands causing developmental disorders Alagille syndrome, Spondylocostal dysostosis, Tetrology of Fallot, aortic valve disease and adult-onset conditions such as CADASIL [43]. Notch signalling has also been found to be dysregulated in several cancers which make it a potential target for anti-cancer therapeutics [44–47]. The current strategies target key events in Notch signalling in the form of decoy soluble ligands and receptors, TACE inhibitors, γ -secretase inhibitors (GSIs), and transcription complex inhibitors. The GSIs have reached clinical trials, but they are not selective for different Notch receptors and are associated with significant levels of intestinal toxicity. With the availability of high resolution structures for regions involved in the activation process such as NRR, paralogue-specific antibodies are under development which are designed to block activation [48]. Wu et al., have recently shown that dual inhibition of Notch-1 and Notch-2 cause intestinal toxicity, whereas specifically targeting Notch-1 or Notch-2 with anti-NRR antibodies avoids toxicity [49]. These data suggest that therapeutic antibodies targeted against other regions of the receptor and ligand involved in binding and activation may also allow specific targeting of Notch/ligand paralogues.

6. Conclusions and perspective

It is perhaps surprising, given its known role in development and disease, that the Notch signalling pathway remains relatively poorly understood at a molecular level. However, recent years have seen the publication of high resolution structures for individual parts of the receptor, ligand, and transcriptional complex (Table 1), suggesting that a more complete molecular description is a realistic prospect. In future, combining biochemical and biophysical skills in the areas of protein purification, O-glycosylation, receptor endocytosis, and structural biology should allow a molecular dissection of the activation mechanism and its regulation by post-translational modifications and, as a consequence, offer new targets for cancer therapies.

Acknowledgement

This work was funded by the Wellcome Trust (Grant no. 087928).

References

- Kopan R, Ilagan MX. The canonical Notch signalling pathway: unfolding the activation mechanism. Cell 2009;137:216–33.
- [2] Sanchez-Irizarry C, Carpenter AC, Weng AP, Pear WS, Aster JC, Blacklow SC. Notch subunit heterodimerization and prevention of ligand-independent proteolytic activation depend, respectively on a novel domain and the LNR repeats. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24:9265–73.
- [3] Tamura K, Taniguchi Y, Minoguchi S, Sakai T, Tun T, Furukawa T, et al. Physical interaction between a novel domain of the receptor Notch and the transcription factor RBO-J kappa/Su(H). Curr Biol 1995;5:1416–23.
- [4] Weng AP, Ferrando AA, Lee W, Morris 4th JP, Silverman LB, Sanchez-Irizarry C, et al. Activating mutations of Notch1 in human T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Science 2004;306:269–71.
- [5] Rebay I, Flemming RJ, Fehon RG, Cherbas L, Cherbas P, Artavanis-Tsakonas S. Specific EGF repeats of Notch mediate interactions with Delta and Serrate: implications for Notch as a multifunctional receptor. Cell 1991;67:687–99.
- [6] Rebay I, Fehon RG, Artavanis-Tsakonas S. Specific truncations of Drosophila Notch define dominant activated and dominant negative forms of the receptor. Cell 1993;74:319–29.
- [7] Downing AK, Knott V, Werner JM, Cardy CM, Campbell ID, Handford PA. Solution structure of a pair of calcium-binding epidermal growth factor-like domains: implications for the Marfan syndrome and other genetic disorders. Cell 1996;85:597-605.
- [8] Smallridge RS, Whiteman P, Doering K, Handford PA, Downing AK. EGF-like domain calcium affinity modulated by N-terminal domain linkage in human fibrillin-1. J Mol Biol 2003;286:661–8.
- [9] Hambleton S, Valeyev NV, Muranyi A, Knott V, Werner JM, McMichael AJ, et al. Structural and functional properties of the human Notch-1 ligand binding region. Structure 2004;12:2173–83.
- [10] Cordle J, Redfield C, Stacey M, van der Merwe PA, Willis AC, Champion BR, et al. Localization of the delta-like-1-binding site in human Notch-1 and its modulation by calcium affinity. J Biol Chem 2008;283:11785–93.
- [11] Cordle J, Johnson S, Tay JZ, Roversi P, Wilkin MB, de Madrid BH, et al. A conserved face of the Jagged/Serrate DSL domain is involved in Notch trans-activation and cis-inhibition. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2008;15:849–57.
- [12] Okajima T, Xu A, Irvine KD. Modulation of notch-ligand binding by protein O-fucosyltransferase 1 and fringe. J Biol Chem 2003;278:42340–5.
- [13] Lei L, Xu A, Panin VM, Irvine KD. An O-fucose site in the ligand binding domain inhibits Notch activation. Development 2003;130:6411–21.
- [14] Ge C, Stanley P. The O-fucose glycan in the ligand-binding domain of Notch1 regulates embryogenesis and T-cell development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:1539–44.
- [15] Hiruma-Shimizu K, Hosoguchi K, Liu Y, Fujitani N, Ohta T, Hinou H, et al. Chemical synthesis, folding and structural insights into o-fucosylated epidermal growth factor-like repeat 12 of mouse Notch-1 receptor. J Am Chem Soc 2010;132:14857–65.
- [16] Gordon WR, Roy M, Vardar-Ulu D, Garfinkel M, Mansour MR, Aster JC, et al. Structure of the Notch-1-negative regulatory region: implications for normal activation and pathogenic signalling in T-ALL. Blood 2009;113: 4381–90.
- [17] Gordon WR, Vardar-Ulu d L'Heureux S, Ashworth T, Malecki MJ, Sanchez-Irizarry C, et al. Effects of S1 cleavage on the structure, surface export and signalling activity of human Notch1 and Notch2. PLoS One 2009;4:e6613.
- [18] Vardar D, North CL, Sanchez-Irizarry C, Aster JC, Blacklow SC. Nuclear magnetic resonance structure of a prototype Lin12-Notch repeat module from human Notch1. Biochemistry 2003;42:7061–7.
- [19] Rand MD, Grimm LM, Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Patriub V, Blacklow SC, Sklar J, et al. Calcium depletion dissociates and activates heterodimeric notch receptors. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20:1825–35.
- [20] Malecki MJ, Sanchez-Irizarry C, Mitchell JL, Histen G, Xu ML, Aster JC, et al. Leukemia-associated mutations within the Notch1 heterodimerization domain fall into at least two distinct mechanistic classes. Mol Cell Biol 2006;26:4642–51.
- [21] Gordon WR, Arnett KL, Blacklow SC. The molecular logic of Notch signalling a structural and biochemical perspective. J Cell Sci 2008;121:3109–19.
- [22] Zweifel ME, Leahy DJ, Hughson FM, Barrick D. Structure and stability of the ankyrin domain of the Drosophila Notch receptor. Protein Sci 2003;12:2622–32.
- [23] Lubman OY, Ilagan MX, Kopan R, Barrick D. Quantitative dissection of the Notch:CSL interaction:insights into the Notch mediated transcriptional switch. J Mol Biol 2007;365:577–89.

- [24] Nam Y, Sliz P, Song L, Aster JC, Blacklow SC. Structural basis for co-operativity in recruitment of MAML coactivators to notch transcription complexes. Cell 2006;124:973–83.
- [25] Arnett KL, Hass M, McArthur DG, Ilagan MX, Aster JC, Kopan R, et al. Structural and mechanistic insights into cooperative assembly of dimeric Notch transcription complexes. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2010;17:1312–7.
- [26] Morgan WD, Birdsall B, Frenkiel TA, Gradwell MG, Burghaus PA, Syed SHE, et al. Solution structure of an EGF module pair from the plasmodium falciparum merozite surface protein 1. J Mol Biol 1999;289:113–22.
- [27] Xu A, Lei L, Irvine KD. Regions of Drosophila Notch that contribute to ligand binding and the modulatory influence of Fringe. J Biol Chem 2005;280:30158–65.
- [28] Kelly DF, Lake RJ, Middlekoop TC, Fan HY, Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Walz T. Molecular structure and dimeric organization of the Notch extracellular domain as revealed by electron microscopy. PLoS 2010;340:369–80.
- [29] D'Souza B, Miyamoto A, Weinmaster G. The many facets of Notch ligands. Oncogene 2008;27:5148-67.
- [30] Komatsu H, Chao MY, Larkins-Ford J, Corkins ME, Somers GA, Tucey T, et al. OSM-11 facilitates LIN-12 Notch signalling during *Caenorhabditis elegans* vulval development. PLoS Biol 2008;6:e196.
- [31] Mizuhara E, Nakatani T, Minaki Y, Sakamoto Y, Ono Y, Takai Y. MAGI1 recruits Dll1 to cadherin-based adherens junctions and stabilizes it on the cell surface. J Biol Chem 2005;280:26499–507.
- [32] Lissemore JL, Starmer WT. Phylogenetic analysis of vertebrate and invertebrate Delta/Serrate/LAG-2 (DSL) proteins. Mol Phylogenet Evol 1999;11:308–19.
- [33] Pintar A, Guarnaccia C, Dhir S, Pongor S. Exon 6 of human JAG1 encodes a conserved structural unit. BMC Struct Biol 2009;9:43.
- [34] de Celis JF, Bray SJ. Feed-back mechanisms affecting Notch activation at the dorsoventral boundary in the *Drosophila* wing. Development 1997;124:3241–51.
- [35] Micchelli CA, Rulifson EJ, Blair SS. The function and regulation of cut expression on the wing margin of *Drosophila*: Notch, wingless and a dominant negative role for Delta and Serrate. Development 1997;124:1485–95.
- [36] de Celis JF, Bray SJ. The Abruptex domain of Notch regulates negative interactions between Notch, its ligands and Fringe. Development 2000;127:1291–302.
- [37] Becam I, Fiuza UM, Arias AM, Milán M. A role of receptor Notch in ligand cisinhibition in *Drosophila*. Curr Biol 2010;20:554–60.
- [38] Shimizu K, Chiba S, Kumano K, Hosoya N, Tkahashi T, Kanda Y, et al. Mouse Jagged1 physically interacts with Notch1 and other Notch receptors. Assessment by quantitative methods. J Biol Chem 1999;274:32961–9.
- [39] Shimizu K, Chiba S, Saito T, Kumano K, Hirai H. Physical interaction of Delta 1, Jagged1 and Jagged2 with Notch1 and Notch3 receptors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;276:385–9.
- [40] Pei Z, Baker NE. Competition between Delta and the Abruptex domain of Notch. BMC Dev Biol 2008;8:4.
- [41] Parks AL, Klueg KM, Stout JR, Muskavitch MA. Ligand endocytosis drives receptor dissociation and activation in the Notch pathway. Development 2000;127:1373–8.
- [42] Ahimou F, Mok LP, Bardot B, Wesley C. The adhesion force of Notch with Delta and the rate of Notch signalling. J Cell Biol 2004;167:1217–29.
- [43] Harper JA, Yuan JS, Tan JB, Visan I, Guidos CJ. Notch signalling in development and disease. Clin Genet 2003;64:461–72.
- [44] Noguera-Troise I, Daly C, Papadopoulos NJ, Coetzee S, Boland P, Gale NW, et al. Blockade of Dll4 inhibits tumour growth by promoting non-productive angiogenesis. Nature 2006;444:1032–7.
- [45] Yan M, Callahan CA, Beyer JC, Allamneni KP, Zhang G, Ridgway JB, et al. Chronic Dll4 blockade induces vascular neoplasms. Nature 2010;463:E6–7.
- [46] Yin L, Velazquez OC, Liu ZJ. Notch signalling: emerging molecular targets for cancer therapy. Biochem Pharmacol 2010;80:690–701.
- [47] Dikic I, Schimidt MH. Notch: implications of endogenous inhibitors for therapy. Bioessays 2010;32:481–7.
- [48] Aste-Amézaga M, Zhang N, Lineberger JE, Arnold BA, Toner TJ, Gu M, et al. Characterization of Notch1 antibodies that inhibit signalling of both normal and mutated Notch1 receptors. PLoS One 2010;5:e9094.
- [49] Wu Y, Cain-Hom C, Choy L, Hagenbeek TJ, de Leon GP, Chen Y, et al. Therapeutic antibody targeting of individual Notch receptors. Nature 2010;464:1052–7.
- [50] LaVoie Selkoe DJ. The Notch ligands, Jagged and Delta are sequentially processed by alpha-secretase and presenilin/gamma-secretase and release signalling fragments. J Biol Chem 2003;278:34427–37.